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PROCEEDINGS
(9:32 a.m.)

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Good morning. On behalf of
the United States International Trade Commission, |
welcome you to this hearing on Investigation Nos.
701-TA-373 and 731-TA-770-775 (Review) involving
Stainless Steel Wire Rod from Italy, Japan, Korea,
Spain, Sweden and Taiwan.

The purpose of these five-year review
investigations is to determine whether the revocation
of the antidumping and countervailing duty orders
covering stainless steel wire rod from Italy, Japan,
Korea, Spain, Sweden and Taiwan would be likely to
lead to continuance or recurrence of material injury
to an iIndustry in the United States within a
reasonably foreseeable time.

Notice of iInvestigation for this hearing,
list of witnesses and transcript order forms are
available at the Secretary®s desk. Transcript order
forms are also located in the wall rack outside the
Secretary"s office.

I understand the parties are aware of the
time allocations. Any questions regarding time
allocations should be directed to the Secretary. As

all written material will be entered in full into the
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record, it need not be read to us at this time.

The parties are reminded to give any
prepared non-confidential testimony and exhibits to
the Secretary. Do not place any non-confidential
testimony or exhibits directly on the public
distribution table. All witnesses must be sworn in by
the Secretary before presenting testimony.

Finally, if you will be submitting documents
that contain information you wish classified as
business confidential, your requests should comply
with Commission Rule 201.6.

Madam Secretary, are there any preliminary
matters?

MS. ABBOTT: No, Madam Chairman.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Very well. Let"s proceed
with our opening remarks.

MS. ABBOTT: Opening remarks in support of
continuation of orders will be by David A. Hartquist,
Collier Shannon Scott.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Good morning, Mr. Hartquist.

MR. HARTQUIST: Good morning, Madam
Chairman, members of the Commission and staff. 1™m
David A. Hartquist of the law firm of Collier Shannon
Scott representing the Petitioners in this case.

The U.S. stainless steel wire rod industry
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IS In some respects the same, but iIn other respect
quite different from the industry that appeared before
the Commission back in 1997. Since the time of the
original investigation, Carpenter has acquired the
facilities of Talley; Universal Specialty acquired the
wire rod facilities in Dunkirk, New York; Charter
Specialty Steel began production of stainless steel
rod in 2001; and Allegheny"s Allvac facility is
rolling rod for Outo Kumpu. Lastly, North American
Stainless has just recently begun producing stainless
steel rod.

These changes spell great potential for the
domestic industry. All of these producers anticipate
that the market for stainless steel rod will grow.
They also anticipate that prices will be at levels
which will allow an adequate return on these new
investments.

There seems little question that the market
can grow and an adequate level of return is
attainable, but this potential is hanging iIn the
balance. While the current conditions of the
marketplace are improving, the industry remains in an
extremely vulnerable state.

While there"s been change in the industry,

other things have remained the same. Stainless wire
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rod is still the same product it was in 1997 as a
fungible commodity. The product can be produced all
over the world. As in 1997, there remains substantial
capacity to produce this product in all six countries
subject to the orders.

The efforts to curb the Injurious impact of
imports through the imposition of the antidumping and
countervailing duty orders initially had positive
effects. For example, Carpenter made substantial
investment, such as the purchase of Talley, and
Charter, a leading carbon steel producer, made a
significant investment in stainless steel production
in Wisconsin entering the business. Yet, as these
investments were made, a new flood of imports hit the
United States, and the market declined substantially.
By 2003, imports of stainless steel rod had dropped
significantly.

Now, depending upon how you view the world,
the glass is either half empty or half full. U.S.
producers can now supply domestic demand, not just iIn
terms of volume, but also in terms of grade and coil
size. You"ll remember those issues back a few years
ago.

All the producers have substantially
increased their productivity iIn a constant effort to
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10
reduce their cost. The economy seems to be on the
mend, and demand is likely to improve. Prices are
expected to increase. The glass if half full.

The glass is also half empty. Pricing
levels are still at an all-time low, and the United
States producers are certainly not driving
financially. They"re not operating at anywhere near
their full capacity, and raw material costs, as you
know, have risen substantially. Again, the potential
iIs great, but so are the risks.

The principal risk is a very real
possibility that imports will once again flood the
market with dumped product. As the Commission staff
report makes very clear, the foreign producers in the
six countries subject to these orders have maintained
substantial capacity. Lifting the orders on the heels
of the removal of the 201 duties would empty the class
for U.S. producers.

Producers in the six countries have
demonstrated a remarkable ability to ramp up exports
and dump their rod into the United States. Removing
the duties would lift the floodgates. The iInvestments
that domestic producers have made in this industry
would be In jeopardy, and future investment would be
endangered.
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The iIndustry can succeed, but the
maintenance of these orders is critical to that
success, and we respectfully urge the Commission to
continue these orders in place. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Thank you.

MS. ABBOTT: Opening remarks in support of
revocation of orders will be by William Silverman,
Hunton & Williams.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Good morning, Mr. Silverman.

MR. SILVERMAN: Good morning. I1°m William
Silverman with the law firm of Hunton & Williams. 1™m
here on behalf of Respondents in this proceeding.

Madam Chairman, this Commission has heard
this domestic industry request import relief many
times over many years, going back into the mid 1970s.
Today we have a new, larger, stronger and more
efficient domestic industry than ever before because
of the new entrants, which Mr. Hartquist has listed
for you, who have invested substantial amounts in
modernizing and expanding the domestic industry.

These investments are the mark of a strong
industry, not a vulnerable one. These investments,
it"s important to note, were based on business
considerations and economic considerations, not on

political considerations or legal considerations here
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in Washington.

By that 1 mean that major corporations
simply do not make large capital expenditures. NAS,
for example, is one of the largest stainless steel
companies in the world. They simply don®t make those
kind of investments based on an ITC vote several years
after they make the investment.

Investments, as we talked about in our
brief, were planned and made some time ago. Do you
really think those investments were premised on an ITC
vote iIn the summer of 2004? |In fact, if you look at
the record in this case, try to find some proof that
those iInvestments were ever premised on an ITC vote
involving imports from Italy or the other subject
countries in the summer of 2004.

Of course, all through today we*ll hear time
and time again that the sky is falling. The sky is
falling, and 1t"s going to fall even worse. Mr.
Hartquist used the magic word we all learned in law
school, floodgates are here.

You®ve heard this same kind of plea time and
time again in 1993, in 1997, in 2000, in 2002, by the
same people in the domestic industry when they came
before you asking for relief. If you look to see what

they predicted in each of those proceedings and
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compare it to actually what happened, you®ll see that
their sky is falling mantra is simply incorrect.

Time and time again they seem to claim that
all downturns, all bumps in the road, are somehow
causally linked to those particular imports that are
involved iIn that particular investigation. In fact,
the record shows that other economic forces shape the
financial health of this industry, as we"ll hear in
the testimony later today.

As the record shows, despite various levels
of imports during the period of iInvestigation in fact
going back to 1975-1976 when we first came here, the
domestic industry never seems to improve. They ask
for medicine, and they don"t seem to improve. That"s
because there are these other economic factors, which
we 1l discuss.

I say to you iIn this case please beware of
the fifth set of these predictable pleas that the sky
is falling or will soon fall and that all those
problems, of course, are caused by iImports.

Now, as to ltaly in particular, the legal
standard of no discernable adverse impact applies.
Substantial evidence on the record shows that there-s
no correlation between changes in levels of Italian

imports on the one hand and the economic health of the
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industry on the other.

IT there®s no such correlation, there can be
no causation. Think about 1t. Even if there were no
imports from Italy, assuming arguendo, would the
economic health of the domestic industry be any
different?

For example, if there were no imports from
Italy would NAS, a major investor in this industry,
have invested more in their expansion and
modernization of the domestic industry? Of course
not. They were totally unaffected by it in their
decision making. |If there were no imports from Italy,
would we see a different pricing pattern by NAS and
any of these other domestic producers? OFf course not.

Substantial evidence on the record shows
that imports from ltaly are not likely to increase to
any discernable degree if the orders were revoked.
First of all, capacity utilization in Italy is very
high. As you"ll hear the testimony today, it"s
limited by the reheat furnaces. They can"t produce
more.

Italian producers have established sales
channels and customers iIn growing markets in Europe
and Asia. |If they ship more here, they have to walk

away from existing commercial relationships.
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The EU market has recently expanded with the
accession of 10 countries, and the economic incentives
to produce high value downstream products continues.
They lack the capacity to switch from bar to rod.

These facts are substantial evidence on the
record, and 1 hope you will weigh them more heavily
than vague predictions about ltaly. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Thank you, Mr. Silverman.

MS. ABBOTT: The first panel in support of
the continuation of orders should please come forward
and be seated. The witnesses have been sworn.

(Witnesses sworn.)

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Thank you.

Good morning again, Mr. Hartquist. It looks
like all members of your panel have been seated. You
may begin.

MR. HARTQUIST: Thank you, Madam Chairman.

I will introduce the members of our panel to you. On
my left is Toni Brugger, who is vice president of the
Coil Business Unit of Carpenter Technology
Corporation.

On my right, Charles Mellowes, vice
president and general manager of Charter Specialty
Steel. Next to him is Ed Blot, president of Ed Blot
and Associates and a consultant to the industry with
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many years of experience.

In the corner on the left is Bill Pendleton,
who has appeared before you many times, a consultant
to Carpenter Technology, retired, and a representative
of the Specialty Steel Industry of the United States;
Jim Gugino, who is the product manager of Dunkirk
Specialty Steel, also with many, many years of
experience in this product.

Larry Lasoff, Collier Shannon Scott; Bill
Wellock, manager of Consolidated Planning for
Carpenter Technology Corporation; Brad Hudgens,
Georgetown Economic Services; and Mary Staley of
Collier Shannon Scott.

with that, we"ll begin this morning with
Toni Brugger. |I°m sorry. With Ed Blot.

MR. BLOT: Good morning, Madam Chairman

MR. BLOT: Good morning, Madam Chairman and
members of the Commission. My name is Edward Blot,
and I*m president of Ed Blot and Associates. My
company provides consulting services to North American
producers, service centers and consumers of stainless
and nickel alloy products.

This morning | will address three principal
topics supporting the industry®s position that the
current orders on stainless rod from Italy, Japan,
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Korea, Spain, Sweden and Taiwan should not be revoked.

First, I will discuss the product that is
the subject of this sunset review. Second, 1 will
discuss the U.S. stainless rod market, review its
history and present my forecast for the next few
years. Lastly, I will comment on some of the
statements made in the Respondents® prehearing briefs.

To understand the market for stainless rod
and to understand the effects that unfairly traded
imports have had on the U.S. iIndustry and are likely
to have iIn the future, it"s Important to have some
basic familiarity with the product itself.

1*d like to emphasize that stainless rod is
a semi-finished product. This feature is very
important. As a semi-finished product, stainless rod
iIs a commodity product that must be further processed
by end users to produce a wide variety of finished
goods like springs, fasteners, fTilters, nails, welding
electrodes and automotive parts. It is a product that
is sold in coil form, making i1t suitable for end users
that require continuous feeding of input material like
the production of stainless wire and fasteners.

Another important factor to consider is that
the production process for stainless rod is basically
the same worldwide. First, stainless steel is melted,
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refined and either continuous cast into billets or
rolled from cast ingots into billets. Next, the
billets are hot-rolled and coiled. Third, the steel
is finished, which includes annealing and finishing.
Excuse me. Annealing and descaling.

In this industry, the end user customer
determines the particular size and grade of stainless
rod based on the application. General industry
practice is for the customers to place their order by
grade, size, tolerances, surface quality and quantity,
so these requirements must be known by the rod
producer before melting to ensure that the steel
possesses the properties that are required to meet the
customer”s specifications.

Because these specifications must be set
before the production process begins and because the
production process is basically the same everywhere in
the world, the quality -- I quote, the quality -- in
the rod is a given iIn this industry. Either the
product meets the customer®s specifications or i1t does
not. If the rod is the grade and the size required by
the customer, then most any rod from any producer can
be used by the end user.

111 focus on these particular

characteristics of stainless rod because they have a
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direct correlation to the demand and supply conditions
in the market. May I now direct your attention to
Chart R-1, which is on the overhead? | also believe
you have i1t in front of you.

As you can see from this chart, consumption
for stainless rod generally iIncreased over the past
decade as more products required the corrosion
resistant qualities of stainless steel. As you can
further see from the chart, the demand trend
significantly decreased during the past three years.

There were two principal reasons for this
drop in demand. First and foremost was the
manufacturing recession that began in 2001. This drop
in demand was compounded by the end user customers
reducing their inventories.

Second, when the Section 201 relief was
initiated, some offshore rod producers shipped
processed wire to the same end user customer
purchasing rod. Now, processed wire is a rod that"s
been drawn slightly to a slightly smaller size. Why
this product shift? Well, the wire tariffs were about
50 percent of the rod tariffs, and there were no
antidumping orders on wire.

As an example, in 2002 Korean rod shipments

were down approximately 50 percent from 2000, while
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their wire shipments increased about 30 percent during
the same period of time. As the demand for stainless
rod grew during the last decade, so has the
competition, and the competitive nature of this
industry is again tied directly to the physical
characteristics of the product.

As 1 mentioned earlier, so long as the
product specifications are met, which are primarily
the grade and the size, customers can basically source
this product from any stainless producer. |If a
purchaser can buy the same product from any producer,
it comes as no surprise that the number one or very
important factor influencing the purchasing decision
IS price as reported in the ITC staff report. This is
where low-priced, unfairly traded imports fit the
picture.

As Chart R-1 shows, imports began to flood
the market beginning In 1992. This increase was
primarily from unfairly traded imports from France,
Brazil and India. As the chart reveals, with the
surge of these low-priced imports U.S. producer
shipments and market share dropped significantly.

As I"ve been emphasizing, it came as no
surprise to the industry that the switch could take
place so quickly. If a customer can buy stainless rod
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for less money, the commodity nature of the product
allows the customers to switch its suppliers easily
and quickly.

After the 1994 antidumping orders were
imposed, as the chart shows, U.S. producers were able
to regain some shipments in market share, but the
benefit of these orders quickly diminished as the next
onslaught of unfairly traded imports followed.

Again, this trend is depicted in the chart,
which shows the increasing volumes of imports in 1995,
1996 and 1997 and the steady decline in U.S. shipments
and market share during the same time period, so while
the French, Indian and Brazilian producers exited the
market, the Italians, Japanese, Koreans, Spaniards,
Swedes and Taiwanese were able to fill this gap by
underselling the U.S. producers.

Again, it all boiled down to price. The
stainless rod coming from these other six countries
was the same semi-finished commodity product, but it
was being sold at a lower price. As the chart shows,
while demand was growing steadily in the market, U.S.
producers were unable to capitalize on this growth
because of the increasing volume of unfairly traded
imports from these six countries.

Now, once the new orders were put into place
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in 1998, as the chart shows, Imports dropped at the
same time demand in the U.S. dropped. There were
three reasons for this drop in demand following the
imposition of the 1998 orders. First, the drop in
demand reflects the fact that customers were using up
inventories purchased when the petitions were filed.

Second, several U.S. customers who purchased
stainless rod for manufacturing into small bar, they
discontinued buying this product. Instead, these U.S.
customers switched to purchasing stainless bar, in
many cases from the same import countries that
supplied them the rod.

Third, there was a ripple effect in overall
demand due to the Asian crisis that began late 1997.
This led to the flood of rod imports as offshore
producers shipped their excess capacity to end users
in the U.S. market.

As you can see from my second chart, R-2,
import penetration increased to new historic levels in
2000 and 2001, approaching almost 80 percent, and only
started to decrease once the Section 201 relief
tariffs were initiated. These tariffs provided some
relief and prevented further deterioration.

With the retention of the subject orders,
the domestic industry is now positioned to take
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advantage of an improving market. This market review
brings us up to the present.

IT you can refer back to my Chart R-1, my
forecast is that demand for stainless rod will
increase steadily over the next five years as the
manufacturing recession is basically over. My
forecast does account for the fact that some
manufacturing will remain offshore, principally in
developing countries like China and India. The real
question is who will supply the rod demand. The
answer to that question turns, of course, in large
part to the outcome of this proceeding.

IT the current orders are revoked, | don"t
think 1t will take very long before low-priced imports
from all six countries will quickly come in and supply
the market. The reason 1 took you down memory lane
was to show you the pattern of offshore producers
shipping excess rod capacity to the U.S. market at
unfairly traded prices.

At this point I also want to emphasize that
after publication of the orders iIn 1998, the producers
found to be trading unfairly did not stop production
of stainless products in their home markets, and they
didn"t disappear from the marketplace. To the

contrary, producers in all six countries have remained
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in the business of producing stainless steel.

When the orders on rod were put into place,
producers in these countries shifted their imports to
stainless bar, a product that iIs made on the same
production lines as rod. In fact, the Italians and
Taiwanese remain two of the largest, most prominent
players in the market for stainless bar products and
continue to have a significant interest in the U.S.
market.

As you can see from Chart R-1, I have
forecasted apparent domestic consumption through 2008,
but have not forecasted separate domestic and import
trends beyond last year. |If these orders are
continued, my forecast would show that as demand
increases both U.S. producers and foreign producers
would share in this growth.

U.S. producers have waited long for this
opportunity and have recently been making investments
so that they can participate in the growth. You will
hear from Charter Specialty Steel and Universal
regarding their entry into the stainless rod market.
The ITC staff report and especially the Respondents®
briefs also state the entry of NAS, North American
Stainless, and future entry of Outo Kumpu into the
stainless rod market.
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There®s no question that the U.S. industry
has the ability to supply this increase iIn demand for
stainless rod. If, however, the orders are revoked
the historical pattern of unfairly traded imports will
likely repeat itself. Without the discipline of these
orders, the producers in these six countries will
return to their unfair trading practices and will
regain market share and record shipments.

The final part of my testimony will focus on
some of the issues raised iIn the Respondents® briefs.
The Korean brief states that there is no likelihood
that injury would occur if the orders were revoked and
that their exports would not likely increase because
of demand conditions in other Asian countries, 1in
other Asian markets.

There®s no question that demand has been
strong in those markets, especially China, but as has
been reported in various articles the growth is being
tempered and is not expected to continue at the
current pace.

As discussed earlier in my testimony, the
Koreans did not abandon the U.S. market, but really
shifted production to processed wire. One of my
market sources tells me that Korea is aggressively
quoting stainless rod for second half 2004 delivery.
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Why is this happening if they do not intend
to increase shipments? Could It be that since Section
201 relief has ended stainless rod versus processed
wire Is more attractive? Could it be the leveling of
demand in China will equate to excess capacity for
shipment elsewhere like the U.S. market?

Cogne. They state iIn their prehearing brief
that the European and Asian markets are strong, and
combined with the dollar devaluation they would not
likely iIncrease their stainless rod shipments to the
U.S.

As mentioned previously, the Asian market 1is
starting to take a breather. Also, the euro has
gained some strength versus the dollar iIn recent
months. While 1t"s nice to say there®s currently no
reason to increase shipments to the U.S., 1 suggest
history will repeat itself it the orders are revoked.

The Italians further argue that their rod
mix is different than products supplied by the U.S.
producers and other import countries and, therefore,
should not be cumulated. While it"s true that the
current mix from Italy includes a greater percent of
ferritic and martensitic grades than some of the other
grades, but their historic pattern prior to the orders

and Section 201 relief included a heavier mix of
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austenitic grades.

The domestic industry produces the ferritic
and martensitic grades. The domestic industry has the
capacity to supply the demand, but, as an example, we
have been seeing prices on a ferritic grade used for
automotive exhaust hangers decline over 20 percent due
to aggressive Italian pricing.

Other countries have also become more
aggressive. My market sources tell me that Swedish
producers have reduced their pricing on a popular
automotive grade over 10 percent immediately after the
Section 201 relief ended. Again, the pattern repeats.

Regarding the AWPA prehearing brief, during
all the hearings for the 1994 orders, the 1998 orders,
the 2000 sunset reviews, other 1994 orders and the
Section 201 relief, they testified as to the need for
offshore supply because of quality, core weights and
limited domestic suppliers.

Besides Carpenter as a traditional domestic
supplier, they now have three other domestic suppliers
and another potential in Outo Kumpu later this year.
No longer are we hearing about small coil weights, but
rather the new domestic producers are being asked to
cut their 4,000 pound production coil weights in half
by some of the redrawers who cannot handle the big
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coils. What a role reversal.

The redrawers have every reason to be
excited about the new domestic entrants into the
marketplace. They want low domestic prices, and if
the orders on unfairly traded imports are revoked they
know that as the current Asian demand flows lower
offshore prices will be available. Such a deal we can
all understand.

The redrawers cite NAS as a price leader,
referring to them in published articles as a "600
pound gorilla.” All those published articles are
referencing stainless flat-rolled products where, by
the way, NAS has announced several base price
increases this year totaling 12 percent.

The AWPA prehearing brief provides a price
announcement stating that NAS will increase
transactional prices of stainless rod by four percent,
but not until July 2004 shipments. So why is a 600
pound gorilla not flexing its muscle in rod the way
it"s doing in flat-rolled? They understand that
import prices remailn depressed even in the current
marketplace, and that"s why NAS fully supports the
continuation of these orders.

As stated in various press releases, in mid
2003 NAS began U.S. market production in long
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products, which includes value added bar and angle, as
well as the semi-finished rod to internally produce
bar. NAS will also sell rod in the marketplace to end
users, but I am certain that this semi-finished
product was not the major justification for the
rolling mill.

The AWPA brief includes announced
investments by Outo Kumpu. If any of the wire
redrawers were to visit Outo Kumpu in Richburg, South
Carolina, all they would see is new finishing
equipment for stainless steel bar, some of which will
require a rod feedstock.

Now, the joint investment by Outo Kumpu in
the Allegheny Technology rolling mill includes
revamping the roughing stands to accommodate a two
metric ton billet and revamping the rod finishing
stands for flexibility in sizes that finish into bar.
Now, since Outo Kumpu currently sells rod to the
redrawers from the mill in the U.K., 1t would make
sense for them to go ahead and produce that product
domestically.

To summarize my comments, stainless rod is a
fungible product where quality is a given and prices
change. Historical shipment practices by the offshore
producers would indicate that as the Asians and
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European demand levels, excess rod capacity will flood
the U.S. market just as demand here is increasing.

Each new domestic rod entrant has a
different reason for being in the rod market, and the
end user customers should be thankful for this
increased supply. Trade relief has imposed a level of
pricing discipline in the market, and now the U.S.
producers must receive an adequate return on their
investment.

Thank you. 1 will answer your questions at
the appropriate time.

MR. HARTQUIST: Now we"ll turn to Toni
Brugger.

MS. BRUGGER: Good morning. My name is Toni
Brugger. 1 am vice president of the Coil Products
Business Group of Carpenter Technology Corporation, a
major U.S. producer of specialty metals and other high
performance materials.

Our headquarters are located in Redding,
Pennsylvania, and we have stainless rod production
facilities located both In Redding and in Hartsville,
South Carolina. 1| have been in the steel industry for
over 20 years, the past 10 years at Carpenter. While
at Carpenter, 1 have been involved in materials

engineering, sales, marketing, production and general
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management with a substantial involvement in stainless
steel wire rod operations.

This morning I would like to discuss how the
countervailing and antidumping orders on stainless
steel wire rod have helped my company deal with an
extremely price competitive market and why those
orders should be maintained.

Steel, particularly stainless steel
manufacturing, iIs a very capital intensive business.
It requires significant investment in plants and
equipment. Even after those are put in place, it
requires considerable spending to maintain and improve
the facilities.

Carpenter purchased Talley®s facilities in
Hartsville in 1998, for example, in an effort to
improve our competitiveness. Additionally, between
1996 and 2001, Carpenter made substantial iInvestments
totaling more than $500 million in an effort to
compete effectively. Over half of those dollars went
into our key stainless products. |If our industry does
not realize sufficient return on its iInvestments,
however, we cannot continue to make the regular
capital investments that are absolutely necessary to
stay competitive.

Before the specialty steel producers brought
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the countervailing and antidumping cases on stainless
rod imported from ltaly, Japan, Korea, Spain, Sweden
and Taiwan in 1998, imports from these countries had
surged tremendously, having increased by more than 50
percent from their 1995 volumes.

At the time we brought the unfair trade
cases, imports from these six countries accounted for
more than 57,000 tons of stainless wire rod. This
equates to virtually 100 percent of the total imports
brought into the United States in 1995.

With the imposition of the orders in 1998,
imports from those countries dropped to 35,000 tons of
total imports by the end of that year, which equates
to 57 percent of the total imports brought into the
United States.

With the relief we received from these
antidumping duty orders, Carpenter believed we could
continue with our capital expenditure program to make
our stainless steel wire rod facilities even more
efficient. The program continued, but the return on
those iInvestments has been inadequate.

The new orders against imports from these
countries initially had a positive effect in 1998.
Our financial performance was fairly strong.

Unfortunately, two factors, a surge of imports from
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countries not under order and poor economic
conditions, negatively affected our company®s
financial performance during the period of review.

At the time we brought the original cases,
we could not have anticipated the impact of these new
imports in the market and the economic recession.
Under these conditions, the domestic industry was
unable to capitalize on their relief from the unfair
trade practices. What should have been banner years
during 1999 and 2000 were offset by a new onslaught of
low-priced imports. As a result of this surge,
Carpenter participated in the Section 201
investigation.

As you know from the mid term review of that
investigation, the poor economic conditions of 2001 to
2003 significantly mitigated any import relief during
that period. Consequently, we have been struggling
even with these countervailing and antidumping orders
in place. The hoped for positive effects from these
orders have been dampened by continued low-priced
imports and poor economic conditions.

In 2002, imports still controlled 65 percent
of the domestic market for stainless steel wire rod.
Transactional prices fell to new lows, significantly

reducing our revenues and profits in 2001 and 2002.
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Our prices were in fact about 30 percent lower in 2002
than they were in 1997. Carpenter and the other
domestic producers therefore continued to remain
vulnerable to low-priced imports.

Even though we have not been able to fully
reap the intended benefits of these orders, | can
assure you that the conditions in our industry would
be significantly worse had we not received this import
relief. The domestic stainless steel wire rod
producers need the Commission®s continued support so
we are not further challenged by revocation of the
orders on the subject stainless rod.

As Mr. Blot described, demand for stainless
rod Is projected to increase somewhat in the next
several years, but the levels will still be below that
of 1998. The positive outlook for demand will be
negatively impacted by unfair import pricing if these
orders are not continued.

As previously demonstrated, as our market
rebounds imports from these countries will surge
without the discipline that the duties impart. It is
our firm belief from watching the effect of these
orders on the U.S. marketplace that the continuation
of the 1997 orders has an important effect in limiting
unfair pricing.
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We also believe that price stability in the
U.S. market can be enhanced through the process of
annual reviews of the orders at the Commerce
Department. Conversely, we fear that if these orders
are revoked a pattern of import behavior similar to
what we"ve seen in the past will emerge.

I want to emphasize also that these orders
on subject imports haven®"t, with the exception of
Japan, resulted in cessation of shipments. Japan has
decided not to sell in this market presumably because
it cannot do so without dumping.

The other imports continue to come iInto the
U.S. market, but the important difference from pre
order times is that the orders keep a check on the
amount of dumping. In fact, because exchange rates
had been favorable to imports, they already had a
price advantage over domestic products. One might
think that with those exchange rate advantages the
foreign producers might not have needed to dump to
make sales in the United States, but even with this
advantage we continue to see underselling by foreign
producers.

IT the orders are revoked, there will be no
discipline imposed on the foreign producers, and they
will be able to dump to gain market share without
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concern for whether importers will have to pay dumping
duties on their products.

I sincerely appreciate the opportunity to
appear before you today, and 1 would be happy to
answer any questions you may have.

MR. HARTQUIST: Thank you, Toni.

Now Charles Mellowes of Charter Specialty
Steel.

MR. MELLOWES: Good morning. My name 1is
Charles Mellows. 1°m the vice president and general
manager of Charter Specialty Steel. 1°d like to begin
this morning by giving you a brief history of our
company and explain our decision to enter the
stainless steel rod market.

Charter Specialty Steel is a subsidiary of
Charter Manufacturing Company. Charter has been in
the business of manufacturing carbon steel products,
amongst other things, for many years. In 1997,
Charter commissioned a new, state-of-the-art hot
rolling facility in Saukville, Wisconsin. Although
the principal function for this rolling mill was to
make carbon rod, at the time we were building the
facility we also made some up front investments to
allow for the possibility to produce stainless rod.

Although Charter had not previously made
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stainless products, the production process for making
stainless rod is similar to that of making carbon rod.
Given our proven track record of operating low-cost,
efficient mills, we believed we could use our carbon
expertise to our advantage in the production of
stainless rod.

After our Saukville facility was finished,
we continued on with our stainless plans, building a
stainless steel finishing facility in Fond du Lac,
Wisconsin. We began production of stainless steel
wire rod in 2001.

We did not enter these substantial
investments with our eyes closed. Charter realized it
would take a substantial monetary investment, as well
as a strong commitment by the company, to successfully
enter the stainless steel rod market, but Charter
would not have made these investments if unfairly
traded goods had continued to saturate the market.

Once we were convinced that stainless rod
was going to be fairly traded, we made additional
investments to get into the business. With that
historical framework, 1°d like to talk about our
current operations, as well as our production and
concerns about the future of this market.

As mentioned earlier, our stainless
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facilities are modern and state-of-the-art. 1*m well
aware that in the past U.S. consumers of stainless
wire rod have been concerned about three things.
Number one, do producers have enough capacity; number
two, whether they were able to produce all types of
products; and, number three, whether they can supply a
large coil size.

Simply put, those concerns should no longer
be valid. We at Charter believe that we are capable
of producing all grades of stainless steel wire rod
with our principal emphasis on spring and heating rod.
Our coil size can reach as high as 4,500 pounds, and
we have substantial capacity.

While we have made major investments and are
fully capable and committed to supplying our
customers”®™ requirements, the reason I°m here today is
directly related to the same reason that we have
decided to make the investment in this market several
years ago. We believe that the continuation of these
orders is essential to ensuring fairly traded rod and
thus our ability to compete in this market.

In considering what lies ahead for us,
considering the market in the past few years, 1 would
have to say that 1 disagree with the assessment that I

have read in the briefs by the AWPA, Cogne, Changwon
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and Dongbang.

First, they seem to believe that the
antidumping duties that were put in place in 1998 have
not had any impact whatsoever on the stainless steel
wire rod market. They also predict that demand for
stainless wire rod will decline in the future.
Respectfully, 1 disagree.

First, as |1 mentioned earlier, 1 believe the
existing orders have been very important. Throughout
the 1990s, this market has been decimated by unfairly
traded imports. Prices were spiraling lower and
lower, and no U.S. company certainly would not have
chosen to make substantial capital investments
necessary to enter this business.

With the dumping orders in place, Charter
felt we could successfully participate in a fairly
traded market. With this in mind, I"m optimistic
about the future. |1 believe that with the general
economic recovery in the U.S., the market for
stainless wire rod is going to grow, and Charter wants
to be part of that growth.

Furthermore, as we outlined in our
confidential questionnaire response to the Commission,
we are at this time evaluating whether to make

additional investments in our stainless business that
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would further increase our competitiveness in this
market.

Again, the reason I"m here today is we have
all seen this happen before when the market becomes
flooded with unfairly traded imports. The foreign
producers have substantial overcapacity to produce
stainless steel. To use this capacity, they want to
export it to the United States for a couple reasons;
one, the size of the market, and, two, the ease of
access to this market.

Lifting these orders at this critical
juncture when many new producers like Charter are
getting started and we"re building a new customer
base, we"re building our new product base, would be
devastating. We would almost certainly lose business
to our foreign competitors, who will reenter this
market by unfairly traded stainless rod.

In summary, these orders have been and
continue to be very important to Charter. Without the
continuation of the pricing discipline of these
orders, the market will quickly return to conditions
that existed in 1997, and our existing investment and
any future investments would be In jeopardy.

We respectfully request that you will

continue these orders as we continue with our venture
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in this market.

MR. HARTQUIST: Thank you, Charles.

Our next witness is Jim Gugino of Dunkirk
Specialty Steel.

MR. GUGINO: Good morning, Madam Chairman
and members of the Commission. My name is Jim Gugino.
I*m the product manager of Dunkirk Specialty Steel,
Inc., a position I"ve held since 2002 when Dunkirk was
founded. Prior to that time I was the product manager
for Empire Specialty Steel, Dunkirk"s corporate
predecessor.

In total, 1°ve spent more than 20 years of
my career iIn sales and marketing of stainless steel
long products, including stainless steel wire rod.
Dunkirk Specialty®s parent company, Universal, has
been In the business of making stainless steel
products since 1994.

Prior to the acquisition of Empire,
Universal had not been engaged in the production of
stainless steel long products. In the early 1990s,
Universal would not have considered entering this
market because of the substantial presence of unfairly
traded imports.

With the imposition of the orders in 1994

and 1998 and with the imposition of 201 relief
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covering imports of stainless steel wire rod and with
Universal®"s experience In making other stainless steel
products, Universal believed that market conditions
would make production of stainless steel wire rod a
viable operation.

Accordingly, Universal decided to acquire
the assets of Empire to form Dunkirk Specialty Steel.
Acquisition of these assets would likely not have
occurred, however, 1If import relief were not in place.

As a result of the formation of Dunkirk
Specialty Steel, we were able to hire back many of the
steelworkers that had lost their jobs as a result of
Empire®s closure in 2002. Most of Dunkirk®s
production is sold to the automotive industry, and we
see demand improving in that sector.

IT the orders are revoked, it is extremely
likely that the pricing discipline that currently
exists in the market would evaporate completely and
market prices would drop even further. If this were
to occur, U.S. production of stainless steel wire rod
would again become undesirable, and Universal would
likely have to evaluate whether to continue production
of this product.

I read in Cogne"s brief that Dunkirk 1is

primarily in the production of commodity grades. |1
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find this argument remarkable. Although Dunkirk
produces high volume grade product to maximize
production, Dunkirk sells these and other grades to
niche markets. Dunkirk does not participate more in
the market for high volume grades because low-priced
imports make it completely unprofitable to do so.

Cogne contends that any potential increase
in imports that may occur after revocation will be
relatively small and cannot possibly have an impact on
the domestic industry. This is simply untrue. Even a
small volume of unfairly priced product can affect an
entire market segment because even a small number of
low priced sales often establishes a benchmark price
in the market segment.

In summary, these orders have been and
continue to be very important to Dunkirk Specialty.
Without the continuation of the pricing discipline of
these orders, the market will likely worsen, and our
existing investment and any continued investment would
be In jeopardy.

We believe that the continuation of these
orders is crucial to the stainless steel wire rod
industry iIn the United States and urge you to continue
the orders for an additional five years.

Thank you. 1 would be happy to answer any
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questions.

MR. HARTQUIST: Our last witness this
morning Is Brad Hudgens of Georgetown Economic
services.

MR. HUDGENS: Good morning. 1°m Brad
Hudgens of Georgetown Economic Services. This morning
I would like to discuss the current condition of the
U.S. industry producing stainless steel wire rod and
the likely impact the revocation of the orders under
this review would have on the domestic industry.

The Commission and its staff are no stranger
to stainless steel wire rod and the U.S. market for
the product. 1In 2001, the Commission found that
serious Injury warranted the imposition of Section 201
duties on all imports of stainless rod. It is in this
context that the Commission must assess the need for
continuation of the orders on Italy, Japan, Korea,
Spain, Sweden and Taiwan.

Almost immediately after the current orders
were imposed in 1998, imports from the six subject
countries dropped by 38.4 percent, and the domestic
industry showed some improvement in its financial
performance. Hence, there was an immediate volume
impact on imports accompanied by an immediate
financial benefit to the domestic industry.
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As Ms. Brugger described earlier, the orders
were a significant factor in Carpenter®s decision to
make capital expenditures that significantly improved
the efficiency of its stainless rod facilities.
Unfortunately, any positive impact on the domestic
industry was short-lived because low-priced imports
from all sources and most particularly non-subject
imports flooded the U.S. market during 1999 to 2000,
resulting in the domestic industry losing significant
market share in 2000 and 2001.

As the Commission is aware, these economic
indicators led to the Section 201 investigation and a
unanimous determination that the stainless rod
industry was experiencing serious injury as a result
of the massive onslaught of imports.

With the continuing presence of the orders,
coupled with the Section 201 relief in place until the
latter half of 2003, the industry experienced a gain
in market share despite poor economic conditions. As
a result of the imposition of the orders and the
Section 201 relief, the stainless rod industry was
showing some signs of revitalization.

Over the last few years, Charter and NAS
have entered the market, while Universal purchased the
Empire stainless long products facility in Dunkirk,
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New York. This revitalization would not have been
possible but for the existence of import trade relief.
Prior to 1998, unfairly traded imports were decimating
and controlling the market. Trade relief imposed a
level of pricing discipline in the market that made
new Investment worthwhile.

The Section 201 relief has now been
terminated, but the data indicates that the U.S.
stainless rod industry is not yet out of the woods.
The financial performance of the domestic industry is
still poor. Although the capacity data show that the
industry has the ability to supply the marketplace
with a full range of stainless rod products, this
revitalization will be stopped dead in its tracks if
these orders are revoked.

With the lifting of the 201 relief, the
orders remain the only relief in place. Lifting the
orders so soon after the removal of the 201 relief
would cause great chaos in the marketplace, causing
further financial deterioration. Accordingly, to
ensure that the U.S. industry has sufficient time to
achieve necessary return on investments, these orders
should stay in place.

In terms of the likely volume of imports

that would enter the U.S. market if the orders were
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revoked, the producers in Italy, Japan, Korea, Spain,
Sweden and Taiwan each had maintained substantial
production capacity. These producers are primarily
export oriented, and based on past history they would
use their excess capacity to export to the United
States.

Furthermore, producers in these countries
have already shown that they have the ability to
significantly increase theilr presence in the U.S.
market over a short period of time. A review of the
record of the original investigation shows that the
subject imports substantially iIncreased during the
three year period before the imposition of the orders,
rising by more than 50 percent during 1995 to 1997.

In the original investigation, the
Commission determined ""“the increases in volume and
market share of the subject imports to be
significant.”

U.S. purchasers responded to the
Commission™s questionnaires that they would search for
low-priced imports from the subject countries in the
event of a revocation of the orders. These purchasers
generally noted that they would begin purchasing
product from the countries named in this review to
obtain ‘more competitive pricing."
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Consequently, the revocation of the duties
would likely create a downward pressure on U.S. prices
and the loss of U.S. producers®™ market share. The
subject imports would likely enter the U.S. market at
low and injurious prices. A review of the
Commission®s records show that there continues to be
aggressive pricing behavior within the U.S. market by
the subject imports even with the orders in place.

Price comparisons between the domestic
product and subject imports show that in the vast
majority of instances for which comparisons were
available imports undersold the domestic product.
Given that this pervasive underselling has occurred
with the orders in place, the severity of the price
competition In the event of the revocation of the
orders would be intensified.

U.S. prices have dropped over the past five
years primarily because of import competition from
subject, as well as non-subject, Imports and poor
economic conditions. Because the stainless rod market
IS so price competitive, the U.S. industry is
operating in a poor financial condition. The
Commission®™s variance analysis shows that the decrease
in the U.S. industry®s operating income from 1998 to
2003 is primarily attributable to significant price
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declines.

In light of the industry"s already low
profitability, an increase in the volume of low-priced
subject imports would compound the poor financial
performance already faced by the domestic industry.

In the sunset review, the Commission is
presented with an industry that is vulnerable to more
severe injury if the orders are revoked on imports
from the subject countries. Although most of the
trade and financial indicators are confidential, these
data have trended downward over the period of review.
Thus, as the Commission reviews the continued need for
these orders, the industry remains in an extremely
vulnerable position.

Respondents incorrectly argue that the U.S.
industry is not vulnerable for several reasons.

First, Respondents argue that the U.S. producers have
gained market share since 2000. These recent market
share iIncreases beginning in 2002, however, were not a
result of natural market conditions, but rather
because of the Section 201 duties that were imposed on
imports of stainless rod during 2002 and 2003. |If it
were not for the Section 201 duties, imports certainly
would have captured more market share from the
domestic industry.
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The Respondents also argue that the capital
investments that have occurred during the period of
review demonstrate a lack of vulnerability. As
described by Mr. Mellowes®™ testimony, these
investments were motivated by the import relief that
the domestic industry had received. These investments
were made largely because the import duties were in
place.

Furthermore, to state that the domestic
stainless rod industry is not vulnerable is to ignore
all of the trade and financial indicators of the
domestic industry. As is demonstrated in the
prehearing staff report, all of these iIndicators are
down during this period of review. The poor financial
performance of the domestic industry is clear evidence
of a vulnerable condition.

Respondents also argue that NAS is the price
leader and that U.S. prices have been depressed due to
domestic rather than import competition. However,
NAS®" entrance into the U.S. market occurred in the
second half of 2003, thereby affecting only the last
six months of the six year period of review.
Consequently, NAS®" entrance iIn the market cannot
explain the significant price depression that occurred
throughout the POI.
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The Commission®s record clearly shows that
the domestic industry has faced low-priced import
competition throughout the period of investigation.
The prehearing staff report indicates that the subject
imports undersold the domestic product in the vast
majority of comparisons by substantial margins.
Consequently, subject imports have had more of a
depressing impact on prices than the entrance of NAS
to the market.

Furthermore, Respondents even cite to
articles that indicate that NAS has imposed price
increases in 2004. As Mr. Blot testified earlier, the
producers in the subject countries started to lower
their prices subsequent to the lifting of the Section
201 duties. |If these orders are revoked, foreign
producers will have more leverage to lower prices and
depress U.S. prices even further.

In summary, the impact of the revocation of
the orders on the subject countries would be
particularly dire given the U.S. industry®s already
vulnerable situation with imports. With all the major
trade and financial indicators already down, the U.S.
producers would certainly suffer if the Commission
were to revoke the orders on the subject countries.

U.S. purchasers confirm that U.S. prices
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would be "more competitive™ even in an already
depressed market. Foreign mills are export oriented
with excess unused capacity to expand in the U.S.
market. For these reasons, we ask the Commission to
maintain the orders under review.

Thank you for your attention.

MR. HARTQUIST: Thank you, Brad.

That concludes our affirmative testimony
this morning. We"ll be happy to take questions.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Thank you, and thank you to
all the witnesses who testified this morning. We
greatly appreciate your participation in today"s
hearing and for the information that you“ve provided
thus far and your willingness to answer our questions.

IT 1 could ask all witnesses when you
respond to questions to just briefly i1dentify yourself
to help our court reporter and help the Commissioners
as well.

Commissioner Pearson will begin our
questioning this morning.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Thank you, Madam
Chairman. 1°d like to welcome the panel. Although
some of you have been before the Commission a number
of times to talk about stainless steel wire rod, this
is my First opportunity to hear it, so I1"m learning
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something.

Mr. Blot, let me start with you if 1 could.
Do you have access to the confidential staff report
prepared by the Commission staff?

MR. BLOT: No, Commissioner, 1 do not.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Okay. Mr. Hartquist,
you will have noted that the charts presented by Mr.
Blot differ significantly from the data that are
compiled in the staff report.

Are we able here in this public setting to
discuss the differences in the numbers, why you®ve
presented things this way when the staff report
presents them rather differently?

MR. HUDGENS: Brad Hudgens, Georgetown
Economic Services. Although the absolute data are
different, the trends very closely match what is in
the staff report. We would argue that the trends
would be the predominant manner in which you analyze
the data with those charts.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: There"s been a
certain amount of scurrying around going on back here
to try to reconcile the differences between your
charts and the numbers that we"re using. For good
order sake and to avoid unnecessary confusion, one
might in the future think of presenting charts more in
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line with the numbers that we"re looking at.

Let me raise a specific question. Chart
R-2, Stainless Rod Imports. Am I correct in assuming
that this represents all imports into the United
States of stainless steel wire rod?

MR. BLOT: Yes, Commissioner, that"s what
that chart is. It"s not just the current six
countries. It is all imports.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Okay. For the
purposes of our analysis, is It more relevant for us
to look at all imports, or should we be looking
instead at the imports from the subject countries?

MR. HARTQUIST: Well, 1 think the purpose of
Mr. Blot"s chart was to show what®s happening overall
in the marketplace, and the confidential data that you
have, of course, which we can submit as part of the
brief is what you®"re specifically examining in the
sunset review.

Mr. Blot does not have access to that
information, so what he®s trying to do is to describe
what®s happening in the market generally and the
impact of these orders as well.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Okay. Perhaps in the
post-hearing if there®"s some clarification that could

be made or an explanation of why we should prefer or
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give more weight to the analysis presented iIn these
charts compared to what we have in the staff report, 1
would appreciate that.

How does the panel respond to the argument
that stainless steel wire rod overcapacity in the
United States iIs so substantial that the U.S. industry
in effect is injuring itself? |Is that a credible
argument?

MR. HARTQUIST: Let me start out with that,
Commissioner. You know, it"s iInteresting when you see
the ebbs and flows In these cases over a period of
years.

It wasn"t too many years ago when we were
accused of being In a situation of having essentially
a single company monopoly in the United States,
Carpenter Technology, which couldn®t supply the
market.

Now we have new entrants which have come 1in
because they®"re optimistic about the future of the
market and expect that trade will be based upon fair
trade conditions rather than unfair trade conditions
and so the argument is there"s too much capacity here
in the United States and you®re injuring yourself.

The arguments kind of get you coming and

going, but 1 think the answer here is that what we"re
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facing among domestic competitors is what we would
characterize as fair competition. What we"re facing
with respect to subject imports is unfair competition,
which has been shown repeatedly.

The industry is now in a position to supply
the market, rebutting the criticism that we had
earlier that it was dominated by a single U.S.
manufacturer essentially. These companies believed
that this market is going to grow and that that excess
capacity at this point, and I*m not sure it"s fair to
call it excess capacity at this point, but that
capacity is going to be used and probably be
supplemented by imports in the future as well as has
been characteristic of the market for many years.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Mr. Pendleton?

MR. PENDLETON: Mr. Pendleton. 1If 1 could
add to that? 1In having been here in 1998, almost siXx
years ago, and 1 think several of the Commissioners
were here as well. Bob Cartee, our chief executive
officer, had really his work cut out in defending as
the main producer of this product and buying Talley.
There were a lot of questions, as Mr. Hartquist said,
about the ability to supply this market.

I was reflecting as we were going through

our testimony today how different things are and how
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positive things are. 1It"s a lot easier to defend
excess domestic capacity and fair competition because
we"ve been here quite a bit on a lot of products, and
the fundamental has always been fair competition.

We"re not asking for protection against fair
competition. That"s what we get in the domestic
industry. We do not get that from the foreign
producers who have excess capacity and look to the
United States to dump their product. We“"re
continually trying to fight that battle.

I"m glad you raised that issue. It"s a
clear distinction, both the original case and also now
and how positive we are right now.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: My understanding is
that in this sunset investigation the statute gives us
guidance that we need to project ahead, if you will,
and try to understand what conditions might be in the
marketplace in the future, which is always an
interesting exercise. | sometimes have a difficult
time explaining the past, much less projecting the
future.

As we do that, how are we to sort out the
potential injury that might be caused by lifting the
dumping orders from the injury that could be caused by
the overcapacity?
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Let me just offer a brief comment. 1 have
substantial experience iIn industries that have gone
through cycles where they have built excess capacity,
and 1t"s absolutely obliterated any earnings for the
industry for a period of anywhere from one to eight
years, so I"m familiar with domestic industries doing
damage to themselves. It"s part of the business
cycle.

How, looking ahead, should we sort out
what®s happening in the domestic iIndustry versus
what®s happening with Imports?

MR. HARTQUIST: Well, the statute permits
you to consider various causes of injury to a domestic
industry, both in an initial iInvestigation and in a
sunset review.

There are a number of factors which we have
acknowledged in our brief and In our testimony that
contribute to the financial condition of the industry
today. One of the factors is that for the last
several years during the recession demand has been
substantially down, and imports have pulled back
during that time because it"s been a very poor market.
Prices have been terrible, and nobody could make any
money In this market. That"s a factor. That"s a
condition of competition.
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What we"re seeing now Is an opportunity for
these companies to recover and to begin to generate
profits that they need to support these iInvestments
that they have made, anticipating that the business
cycle was going to turn around and that demand for the
product would increase and, according to Mr. Blot"s
projections, increase quite substantially in the years
ahead.

What we"re asking you to look at, of course,
is the history of dumping and subsidization that this
Commission has found. We"re looking at an industry
which not only qualified for material iInjury under the
antidumping and countervailing duty law, but qualified
for the much more difficult standard of serious iInjury
in the 201 case, an industry that has been really
clobbered and is now poised with an opportunity as the
market improves to generate some profits and get to
where they ought to be and justify these investments
that they have made.

This is what they built their businesses
for. This is the time when they can achieve
profitability that has been lacking for years. Our
argument is you ought to look at their past behavior
and anticipate what their future behavior would be if

these orders were lifted and keep the orders in place.
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COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Any other quick
responses?

MR. PENDLETON: 1f 1 could add a comment? |
think that Chart R-1 is really dramatic. 1 know there
iIs some difference, but the basic trends are there.

When you follow the red line that Mr. Blot
put together for the imports, you see that you have
two peaks during the 1990s in 1997 and 2000. The
imports, and that"s basically our argument, through
unfair competition have taken the growth in the
positive cycle of this product. They"ve stolen it.

It"s interesting. Before the 1997 peak, and
you see the red line just follows it perfectly. We
were moving together from 1993 to 1995. That"s what
Mr. Blot was talking about. Imports and domestic
producers will share in the future growth that we"re
looking at, and that"s what they were doing for two
years. Then all of a sudden dumping started
occurring, and we had a surge. Look what happened to
the domestic shipments. The same thing in 2000.

It"s a traditional pattern that we see. You
can tell when the dumping is occurring in the
marketplace with the prices that we see and are buying
into the market, are buying into the growth of the

market. That"s where the real surges generally come.
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That"s what we"re looking at here.

We"re at a crossroad in that Mr. Blot did
not extend the lines because you®re at a decision
point. Which way do we go? Continue the orders, and
we"re going to have an orderly growth of imports and
domestic production together. Otherwise 1t"11 follow
the other pattern.

COMMISSIONER PEARSON: Thank you, Mr.
Pendleton. My time has expired.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Thank you again to all the
witnesses. We enjoyed listening to your testimony
this morning.

Before I begin my questions, I guess 1 would
note that 1 share Commissioner Pearson®s concern
looking at the chart. 1 mean, I understand this is a
difficult case because so much of the information in
the staff report is classified and so it"s difficult
to come up with a chart that works, but in some cases
it might be better to have no charts than a chart that
isn"t reflective necessarily of what"s in the staff
report.

Other than the forecast that I am interested
in coming back to you on, Mr. Blot, 1 will look for
additional information post-hearing from you with

regard to the impact of the subject imports we"re
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looking at today to help us with our analysis.

Let me start with something you®ve touched
on both In your opening and in your testimony, which
of course is very relevant to a sunset review, and
that is what changes have taken place in the industry
during this period.

I1"ve heard a number of things said about the
new entrants. Mr. Mellowes, 1 paid particular
attention to what you said about Charter. 1 wondered
if there was anything else, Mr. Hartquist, you can
tell us about NAS®™ entry? They don"t have a
representative here, but obviously there®s been a lot
said about them. You"ve responded to a few points the
Respondents have made.

Again, you have this period where 1"ve heard
Ms. Brugger say that you really didn"t get the relief
from these orders or it was very short-lived, and we
can look at the numbers, and yet we have two new
entrants into the market. What does that mean both iIn
terms of vulnerability and impact of the orders?

I guess 1°d like to hear a little bit more
about NAS in particular, and then I might come back to
you, Mr. Mellowes. Mr. Blot?

MR. BLOT: Yes. 1711 go ahead and talk a

little bit about NAS as far as what 1 do know.
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They"ve made these substantial investments, as you-ve
heard. Those iInvestments are going to more than just
stainless steel wire rod. They"re being put In to
produce stainless steel bar. They“"re being put in to
produce stainless angle.

The rod that they do make goes into both
feedstock to make what"s called small diameter bar --
you might think something like one inch and smaller --
as well as sell rod into the marketplace, so their
entry into this market is multifold. 1It"s not just
focused on stainless rod.

As Commissioner Pearson was asking a
question also about all this excess capacity, iIt"s not
all geared, despite the way i1t"s worded in the
Respondents® brief. It"s not all geared towards
stainless rod. 1It"s geared towards a number of
different products.

As you heard in testimony from Mr. Mellowes,
you wouldn®t enter this market just for rod if you
didn"t already have some facilities there to be able
to produce the product. 1It"s just too costly to do it
just for that reason.

I don"t know whether 1°ve answered your
question or not, but obviously 1 can"t speak directly
for NAS. 1°m just trying to give you what my market
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sources tell me about the product.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. For post-hearing, Mr.
Hartquist, will you be able to get information from
NAS in terms of perhaps what their business
projections were looking forward?

I mean, obviously as you said they"re only
impacting our market, the pricing data, at a
particular time, but they 1 assume would have made
projections on what demand they believed they were
coming on line to fill. Could you submit those for
post-hearing?

MR. HARTQUIST: We certainly will. We"ll
talk with them about getting that information for the
brief. Yes.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. 1 think as much as
you can do. That will be very helpful.

Mr. Mellowes, let me just go back to you
because of a couple of points that you raised in terms
of Charter. Charter was in at least a different part
of the business and then moved into wire rod.

You talked about what the domestic industry
was that they were entering and that they now have
this full product line and are producing the big
coils. I think we have quite a bit of information in
the staff report about what the industry is capable of
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now .

What I wasn"t sure is whether that®s what
made you come into the market, if you will. In other
words, did you see an industry that wasn"t able to
meet the needs of customers and, therefore, you came
in to meet needs that you didn®"t think Carpenter was
doing and so you were trying to fill a different set
of customers, or is this now just you"re all kind of
competing in similar products and similar prices with
what was the already established player in primarily
Carpenter?

IT you can just pull a microphone over
there?

MR. MELLOWES: We primarily made an
incremental investment to get into this business. In
other words, just for argument®"s sake we spent $80
million to build a carbon hot mill. For the life of
me, 1t"s tough to believe that anyone would spend that
kind of money just to get into the stainless rod
market because i1t is so small.

What we essentially did was we made some
incremental investments up front and then added a
processing plant which allowed us to participate in
this business. Do we compete with Carpenter? Sure.
Do we compete with imports? Sure.
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Our opinion of this business and our ability
to produce steel, whether i1t"s carbon or stainless, 1is
iT the steel is fairly traded, if the rod is fairly
traded, we feel we compete with anyone in the world
period.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. And so it"s not that
you"re looking to fill a different niche in the
domestic market now?

MR. MELLOWES: We saw an opportunity. |1
think there was an opportunity out there. 1 think
several people maybe saw the same opportunity. We"re
not the only new entrant, you know.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. What about in terms

of the demand forecast your company is looking at?
Mr. Blot has supplied some information in his chart on
demand looking forward. [Is that consistent with your
internal projections of what you see happening in this
market?

MR. MELLOWES: They"re of the same
magnitude, yes. The growth rates are principally of
the same magnitude.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. What drives it in
your mind? What"s going to drive it? Manufacturing
coming back out of the recession is the main driver?

MR. MELLOWES: 1 think general economic
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activity. 1 think you®re starting to see some
products coming back to the United States, being
manufactured back in the United States versus a few
years ago where everything was moving offshore. |
think you®re starting to see things move back.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. [If your company has
any forecasts for demand going forward that you could
submit for post-hearing, we"d appreciate seeing those
as well.

MR. MELLOWES: Certainly.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: The answer to my next
question 1 assume is confidential, but I*1l ask 1t and
then you can submit it, which Is when you started in
the market or the company started in the market and
looking forward to know what your projections are for
when a company starts turning around.

In other words, Commissioner Pearson talked
a little bit about what happens when a new company
comes in and there"s a lot of capacity in the market.
I would be iInterested in Charter®s view of what they
see as that cycle for them.

MR. MELLOWES: 1I"m sorry. 1 was trying to
get the gist.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Your financial condition as

a new entrant. Do you have projections when you“re
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looking forward and saying --

MR. MELLOWES: 1 can tell you my current
state. I"m not making any money.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: When do you think you"ll
make some money?

MR. MELLOWES: Well, hopefully next year. |
mean, you know, a completely new business, completely
new markets, completely new customers for us.

Maybe from my standpoint sort of along the
same lines as our carbon steel business. In 1980, we
got into the carbon steel business, and we weren"t
much of a factor at all. Now we are the premiere
player in that. Ultimately we*d like to get to that
same point on the stainless side as well.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. Would any of the
other company representatives like to comment on just
demand projections going forward, what you see
happening iIn your business, either Ms. Brugger or back
in the back row there? Do you know from Dunkirk? Go
ahead, Ms. Brugger.

MS. BRUGGER: 1I"m sorry. Are you asking for
demand?

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Demand projections looking
forward.

MS. BRUGGER: We do also agree with Mr.
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Blot"s rate of improvement in the market going
forward. Yes.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay.

MR. GUGINO: Likewise.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. How about when we"re
talking about this period of investigation? In other
words, what"s on this chart is apparent consumption,
and sometimes that"s not exactly the demand side
because you do see imports in the market in going out.

Can you talk a little bit about what you saw
during this period in terms of demand? Ms. Brugger,
you“re shaking your head. Why don®"t I start with you?

MS. BRUGGER: Yes. My name is Toni Brugger,
and 1 think you"re exactly correct that this apparent
consumption, these charts, are not really reflective
of what was actually consumed during that period.

I don"t believe that you really saw -- 1
think, in other words, you were building an inventory.
The supply chain we building inventory for a variety
of reasons, and we"re indicating that inventory was
built in 1997 domestically because there was an
anticipation of duties and so there was a flood of
imports.

Essentially the same thing happened in 2000.
We saw exactly what is reflected here; that then there
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was no need for rod for a period of time while our
customer base was working that inventory off for some
extended periods of time actually.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay. My red light is on,
but, Mr. Gugino, just for sake of completing the
record. Anything that you want to add on looking back
consistent with what Ms. Brugger said, but that you
also were building inventory during that time? 1I™m
sorry.

MR. GUGINO: Yes. We really were not in the
industry at that time.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: That"s right. That"s right.
Dunkirk. I"m sorry. 1 apologize. 1°ve heard from
everyone.

MS. BRUGGER: 1 just want to make sure that
you understand, Madam Commissioner, that we were not
building inventory, but the imports built Inventory in
our customers® supply chains.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Okay.

MS. BRUGGER: So then, therefore, they
required less demand from us. [1"m sorry.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Right. Okay. Thank you
very much for all those answers.

Vice Chairman Hillman?

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Thank you. 1 would
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join my colleagues in thanking all of you for being
here this morning. We very much appreciate it. It"s
a welcome back for most of you, so we appreciate it.

Mr. Hartquist, just following a little bit
along on Commissioner Pearson®s and Chairman Okun®s
question on this issue of the difference between the
data presented here versus what®"s in our staff report.

As | read the numbers, the primary
difference is what you®"ve put here is commercial
shipments, and what we always look at in the staff
report is total shipments, which would include
internal shipments as well.

I*m just trying to make sure 1 understand
that the reason this chart was presented was more
about the access to the data, as opposed to are you
trying to tell me that there was something different
going on vis-a-vis internal shipments, as opposed to
commercial shipments that somehow is affecting how we
should be looking at what was going on in this market?

MR. HARTQUIST: Yes. It was based upon the
confidentiality.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay.

MR. HARTQUIST: We can resubmit the
information, you know, using the data with respect to

subject imports and so forth that®s confidential if
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you would like us to do that.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Well, again 1 think
it would be helpful. 1I°m just trying to make sure |
shouldn®t be reading something into this iIn terms of
whether you"re suggesting something was occurring in
the market in terms of the relationship between
commercial shipments versus internal shipments that
would be going to make other wire, angle, other
products, as opposed to commercial shipments of rod,
whether there was something about that that you“re
trying to tell me 1 should be looking at.

MR. HARTQUIST: No.

MR. BLOT: Am I able to answer that?

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Mr. Hudgens 1 think
has an answer.

MR. BLOT: First off, these are --

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Mr. Blot, let me let
Mr. Hudgens start here.

MR. HUDGENS: Right. The reason that we
used these data was because these data were available
to us from a public source, and they do -- you are
correct. They are the commercial shipments and the
open market shipments for stainless steel wire rod.

They do not reflect any differences in our
analysis. In the post-hearing brief we"ll do an
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analysis with the total shipment.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. |1 appreciate
that. 1 was trying to make sure you weren"t
suggesting something different was going on.

All right. Maybe 1f 1 can come back then on
this issue with you, Mr. Mellowes, a little bit on
this issue of the added capacity because obviously
we"re struggling with this issue in part because of
how much capacity has been added. You know, compared
to the size of the subject imports, it"s very striking
to us how much additional capacity we"re talking
about.

You mentioned, Mr. Mellowes, that you
started out on the carbon side. Perhaps i1It"s because
we, quite frankly, don"t see | think that many
companies before us that are both iIn the carbon
business, as well as in the stainless business. Help
me understand that relationship. Are you using the
same melt shop on the stainless side as on the carbon
side?

MR. MELLOWES: No. Our business model
currently is we buy a billet in the open market. We
roll it on the same rolling mill as we roll carbon
steel.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay.
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MR. MELLOWES: We built a stainless specific
processing plant.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. When you say
processing, that"s taking rod and making what?

MR. MELLOWES: 1t"s annealing and chemically
cleaning the rod.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. But still
producing rod, not going down to wire or angle or
other product?

MR. MELLOWES: No, ma“am. All we produce is
rod.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. AIll right.

So the common facility would be the rolling?

MR. MELLOWES: Yes.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. Can you
readily switch between rolling a carbon product and
rolling a stainless product?

MR. MELLOWES: We do on a daily basis.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay.

MR. MELLOWES: 1 would say that we"re
probably the only people in the world to have done
that. 1"m not saying that our equipment Is any better
than anybody else"s, but we have an atmosphere, if you
will, of being able to adapt, and we do it on a daily
basis.

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

75

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: As between stainless
and carbon, is your business primarily on the carbon
side? Again, I'm trying to get a sense of where your
stainless fits into the mix of what you"re producing.

MR. MELLOWES: 1 would say without revealing
confidential information, 1 would say on an order of
magnitude our carbon business is 10 to 15 times the
size on a sales basis, on a revenue basis | should

say. Ten to 15 times the size as our carbon steel

business.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. 1°m sorry.
Stainless?

MR. MELLOWES: Excuse me. As the stainless
steel.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Carbon is the larger
of the two?

MR. MELLOWES: Yes, ma®am.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. That"s what 1
needed to hear.

On this issue also of trying to understand
these capacity numbers, because again if we add up all
of the capacity obviously Dunkirk had capacity that
was there under a different name, but nonetheless
capacity.

Ms. Brugger, you talked about the
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improvements that nonetheless also added to total
capacity. Mr. Mellowes is now in that business.
That"s more capacity and, you know, what size gorilla
we refer to it as. NAS has obviously added a
substantial amount of capacity.

Add all of that up, you know, and it is
very, very significant either in relationship to the
U.S. market in total, to the relationship of all
imports or any other number.

I*m trying to make sure 1| understand,
though, how this relates in terms of what Mr. Blot was
discussing; that in theory this is not all necessarily
capacity to at the end of the day end up in rod, but
it also could or might end up in other products.

Help me understand a little bit about as
people are making a decision whether or not to in your
case, Ms. Brugger, improve the efficiency of your
facilities or you, Mr. Mellowes, go into this
business. You“"re telling me you went into this
business to be in rod, not something else. Just rod.

I*m trying to understand. As companies
think about these added capacities, is i1t rod that"s
driving these decisions, or is it some of these other
products that one can make either from rod or also iIn
the same facilities that in some way play into these
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investment decisions?

MS. BRUGGER: Toni Brugger. 1 would say
that you"re correct in assuming that the capacity need
for rod in the marketplace is not the only reason why
you woulld want to make some subsequent investments in
hot-rolling type operations.

The fact is, though, that the internal
consumption of what you can hot-roll is not enough to
consume that, so you do very significantly consider
the market for selling rod as part of your estimation
to do this, but there is recognition at least in our
case up front that there®s going to be some percentage
of that that we will be using for other products.

It"s just that at least in our case the
volume of what we would use internally to make wire is
significantly small as in comparison to the volume of
rod that we"re producing at the facility and therefore
can sell to the marketplace.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. All right. 1
don®"t know whether anyone else wants to comment on
that.

Mr. Hudgens, let me go back to you then on
this issue of trying to understand the relationship
between imports as opposed to this added capacity on

the domestic side. You stated in your testimony that
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the subject imports will have a greater impact on the
price of product than say NAS® entrance into the
market.

I*m struggling with how should I know that
to be the case? |If 1 just look at the numbers, the
amount of added capacity in the U.S. industry dwarfs
by any calculation the amount of subject imports. How
am 1 supposed to assume that this small volume of
subject imports has this big impact on prices where
there®s a very big amount of added capacity on the
U.S. side iIn your view is not having an impact on
prices?

MR. HUDGENS: I think if you were to compare
the volume of product that was shipped by NAS during
the period of investigation and compare that to the
volume of the subject imports that the volume of
shipments from NAS would still be smaller than the
subject Imports.

During the period of investigation, the NAS
did not have a significant impact on pricing. They
were only in the market since the latter half of 2003.
We would argue that, you know, looking forward, as Mr.
Hartquist described, that those would be fairly traded
products. As long as the duties are in place on the
subject products, the subject imports, then they are
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fairly traded.

You know, the imposition of the order is to
ensure that we are having fairly traded imports in the
market.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. So with
respect to NAS, it sounds to me more like a timing
argument. They haven®t been big yet.

MR. HUDGENS: Right. 1 mean, even if you
look at the pricing data, yes, they really have not
been a significant factor in the data set that you
have before you.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay.

MR. HARTQUIST: 1If I may supplement that,
Commissioner? You know, it would be interesting.
These sunset hearings are speculative by nature, which
makes them interesting and different.

MR. PENDLETON: Bill Pendleton. 17ve been
involved iIn these --

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Mr. Pendleton, just
a minute. Let"s let Mr. Hartquist finish his
statement.

MR. PENDLETON: Okay. Go ahead.

MR. HARTQUIST: If we were to be here a year
from today and if the orders were not in effect, we"d
have a much clearer picture of who the price leader is

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

80
going to be in the marketplace and whether the product
is fairly or unfairly traded, whether dumping is
recurring. We don"t really know that.

At this point, 1 think the expectation is
that these new entrants are going to compete fairly in
this market. 1°d also like to comment that, as you
know from many, many investigations, it doesn"t take a
lot of volume to have a tremendous impact on prices.

These folks who are in the market every day
will tell you that it"s not just orders that are
placed that affect prices. It"s offers that are
placed in the market that can have a very significant
effect on prices.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Okay. Mr.
Pendleton, 1 will come back to you on this issue.
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Commissioner Miller?

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Thank you, Madam
Chairman.

MR. BLOT: [I1"11 take a stab at it --

MR. WELLOCK: William Wellock. Prices are
strong in Europe, it"s strong iIn Asia, and, of course,
it"s starting to pick up now iIn the U.S. The U.S. has
lagged that. We"ve been in a deeper, longer recession

than 1 think has occurred in other areas of the world,
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and plus in some of the Asian countries -- we hear a
lot about China, so it is certainly a big factor --
you know, they are chewing up a lot of product; and,
therefore, there are markets that people are supplying
rod into there. So the world market, 1 would say, for
the last six months has enjoyed to see a growth, and,
of course, you see that in my chart as far as what 1™m
even projecting here for the U.S. Even though it"s
lagging, | think some of the growth in Europe and Asia
started certainly early to mid last year as compared
to what 1t is in the U.S. is coming back today.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay. Anybody else
involved enough in the markets or following the market
share globally to help with the question? Yes?

MR. WELLOCK: Hi. 1°m Bill Wellock with
Carpenter. First of all, I"m glad you asked the
question about demand. We kind of beat up capacity
here for a while. 1 just want you to keep in mind
about demand and some of the development of new
products that some of this capacity that we all added
iIs going to consume. Two tangible products to think
about our markets is one is the automotive market,
which in North America, is a high-volume market, and
you“"re seeing some migration of products like hangers
that support the exhaust system iIn the cars that we"re
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all driving. Those hangers are transferring to
stainless hangers because they can last a lot longer.
We all have warranties on our cars that are much
longer than they were five or 10 years ago. That is a
high-volume application.

The other one to think about and keep in
mind is the stainless rebar market. As Mr. Blot
pointed out, the rod is an iIntermediary product in all
of our production lines. So especially for Carpenter,
the efficiencies that we"ve added in our rod
capabilities have allowed us to enhance our ability to
go after a very attractive market in the stainless
rebar market. So | just wanted to make sure you
understood some very tangible products there.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay. 1 appreciate
that.

On the stainless rebar market, what iIs the
market that®"s being served with that product? What"s
stainless rebar? We"ve done carbon rebar. 1 don"t
think we"ve done stainless rebar yet, unless I1%ve
forgotten. 1°m sorry.

MR. WELLOCK: For Carpenter, the market
really is the construction industry in bridges, is a
big market so that bridges last longer. It comes into
the life-cycle costing that the government is looking
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at.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay. Did you want to
add anything on the global question, just the issue of
global market share and global demand? No? Not
particularly? Okay. Anybody else?

What about prices, Mr. Blot, U.S. versus
prices In Europe and Asia? You"ve described those
markets as being fairly strong. Are prices higher in
the other markets than they are iIn the United States?

MR. BLOT: The limited information that I
have would indicate that the prices are a little bit
higher In Europe and in some of the Asian countries,
not all, than they are in the U.S.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay. 1 appreciate
that.

Another question 1 actually wanted ask, Mr.
Wellock, your comment just now reminded me of. This
issue of domestic producers® internal consumption, the
captive consumption within the companies has been
something we"ve looked at in the past and made sure we
understood. Now, It wasn"t clear to me whether the
new entrants are doing the same thing in terms of
internal shipments. Mr. Wellock, you mentioned this
iIs an important element for Carpenter.

Mr. Blot, at one point earlier, | think, iIn
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response to another question, you spoke about North
American, some of their capacity for rod going to a
downstream product.

MR. BLOT: Yes. Commissioner Miller, any of
the rolling mills, you know, the mass rolling mill has
the capability to roll sizes down to, say, Ffive
millimeter, five and a half millimeter as a rod
product all the way up to about five inches. Okay?

So it"s got a long range of what they do on their hot-
rolling mill.

So on that mill that was put in, the
investment on that mill is to make bar product all the
way up to five inches, but when you make small bar,
and usually the definition is around one inch. Each
mill is different in terms of where that break-off
point would be, but at about one inch you make the bar
by rolling the rod. 1t"s more efficient to roll a
big, you know, one-, two-ton coil and then process
that to finishing facilities, whether they be cold
drawing or whether they be grinding or a combination
of both, to then make the finished bar.

So that same hot-rolling mill would make a
combination of products. So in the case of North
American Stainless, with this $120 million investment,
they will be making bar up to five inches. They are
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not up to that size range yet, and they will be making
up to five inches in bar. They will be making angle,
which they started making here, 1 think, a few months
ago. Of course, they are making small bar, and they
are selling rod into the market, so it"s a combination
of things. What their business plan is, | don"t know
as far as what they would view the best combination
for them.

So all of that capacity is not geared
towards stainless rod, whether it be internal
consumption or external sale. A lot of that is going
to be making sizes that will not even come out of a
rod, and I*m using one inch as the break. 1 don"t
know specifically where they are, but it should be
roughly in that range.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay, okay. Mr.
Mellowes, does Charter do the same kind of --

MR. MELLOWES: 1 can speak for Charter. No.
In fact, we only produce rod in coil. We do not make
bar whatsoever, and we have zero internal consumption.
We do not make wire, and we do not make cold-finished
bar .

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Could you, but it"s
just not in your plan to do so?

MR. MELLOWES: We would have to make
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specific investments to do so.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay. All right. One
of the reasons 1 asked, as Vice Chairman Hillman was
asking, just understanding for the new entrants, if
they were approaching this market in a different way
than companies like Carpenter had approached it. Why
did you choose the way that you have structured your
capacity as opposed to the way other stainless wire
rod producers apparently have done it in this way?

And 1711 come back to you, Mr. Gugino, in a minute.
Let Mr. Mellowes finish answering the question, and
then 1711 come back to you.

MR. MELLOWES: Like 1 said earlier, | mean,
we are principally a carbon steel business, okay, and
it took some small, incremental investments up front
that would have cost significantly more to do later
on, and really all we had to do after that was build a
processing plant and then learn how to roll this steel
on the same mill as a carbon mill.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: So your shifting is of
a different nature. It"s between the carbon and the
stainless as opposed to the different stainless --

MR. MELLOWES: Exactly. That"s how we feel
we"re going to get some economies of scale.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Right, right.
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Mr. Gugino, you wanted to respond as well.

MR. GUGINO: 1 just wanted to add that
Dunkirk Specialty Steel basically follows the same
format that Carpenter would be. We also produce
rebar, stainless rebar, and other bar products as well
as wire products and rod.

COMMISSIONER MILLER: Okay, okay. The
yellow light is on. |If I go to any other question,
I*m afraid 1t will take a little too long. So 1711
pause at this point and come back to anything else I
have. | appreciate your answers. Thank you.

VICE CHAIRMAN HILLMAN: Commissioner Koplan?

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Thank you. Let me
come back to you, Mr. Blot, if 1 could. Can you tell
me when your tables were prepared? When were Tables
R-1 and R-2 prepared?

MR. BLOT: Your question is when the tables
were prepared?

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Yes.

MR. BLOT: 1 put these tables together, 1
think, the middle of April.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: The middle of April.

MR. BLOT: Yes. Within the last 30 days.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Okay. Just a comment
on my part. It would have been helpful if we had them
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in advance of the hearing instead of getting them the
first thing this morning.

Let me ask you something. You said these
are prepared on the basis of public data as opposed to
confidential data that is included in our materials.
One of your sources is listed as consultants® files on
producers not reporting to AISI. Is that public data?

MR. BLOT: No. Those producers -- you know,
I work throughout the marketplace, and there are some
people who just don®t report into AISI. 1 would say
the bulk of the data, though, iIs reported, --

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: -- but not all of it.

MR. BLOT: -- but not all of it. So if you
take an AISI report, you would find my data would be
slightly higher.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Then you have a
semicolon that says "imports and exports DOC." Is
that a continuation of an analysis from your files?
What i1s that? Is that a third category?

MR. BLOT: The Department of Commerce, you
know, Census Bureau, 1 think, puts out the data as far
as imports and exports. So from those files is where
those numbers come from.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: But a key that you
have down below says "imports,'™ and that"s the red
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line. |Is the source of that line netting imports and
exports from DOC? How did you get to that?

MR. BLOT: The red line is strictly imports.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Strictly imports.

MR. BLOT: The consumption line, just so
we"re all on the same page here, the consumption is
the combination of the domestic shipments plus the
imports less any exports, and exports come two ways.
One i1s the domestic mills ship an exported rod, but
also they will sell rod into the country, and some of
these people will actually export it again. They will
find out they don"t need it iIn their operation in the

U.S., and they export it to Mexico or Canada or

something.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Do you happen to be an
economist?

MR. BLOT: 1I1"m sorry?

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Do you happen to be an
economist?

MR. BLOT: Do I happen to be a --

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: -- an economist.

MR. BLOT: [In the carbon steel?

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: An economist. 1I™m
sorry. I™m from Massachusetts. Let me try again.
Economist.
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MR. BLOT: I1"m from Virginia, so we
understand. No, I"m not an economist.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Okay. 1 would
appreciate, for purposes of the post-hearing, could
you submit the inputs that went into the makeup of
this chart? That would be the domestic shipments
AlISI, the consultants®™ files on producers not
reporting to AISI, et cetera. In other words, if you
could submit that, and since part of that information
is not public, 1"m happy to get it as a business-
proprietary submission, but it would be useful for us
to have the background so that 1 can see exactly how
you got there.

MR. BLOT: 1 would be happy to do that, and
we"ll do that in the post-hearing brief.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: You"ll do that for the
post-hearing? Thank you.

I*m just curious. Mr. Hudgens, you do have
access, APO access. Right? Is there any reason why
you couldn®t have taken our materials, Table C-1, and
in Chapter 3 of the staff report, Tables 3-6 and 3-7,
that you could have taken an approach here that would
dovetail with the information that we have? Could you
have done that? 1°m not really clear what the

advantage was in your doing it this way.
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MR. HUDGENS: Well, those data are
confidential, so --

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Right, but you could
have put that together as a confidential submission,
could you not?

MR. HUDGENS: Right, right. And we"ll do
that for the post-hearing brief.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Thank you.

Now, turning to R-2, if I could, there is no
source listed on the bottom of R-2. Is that the same
as your —-- 1 don®"t know how to describe it, but your
red-line imports from the first one, from R-17?

MR. BLOT: Yes, Commissioner. If you take
the red-line imports, and we"ll give you the specific
year-by-year data, and take that number as the
numerator and take the denominator as the consumption,
and that"s how you get the import penetration.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: And your source for
that?

MR. BLOT: Well, the imports are coming from
DOC, and the consumption numbers, again, are the AIlSI
plus my data files on people who don"t produce. So
when 1 give you everything, 1711 also give you the
import penetration percentages, how they are

calculated.
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COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Thanks, and when you
do that, if you could perhaps include a little bit of
a narrative explanation that walks me through it, that
would be helpful to me.

MR. BLOT: 1 would be happy to do that.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Thank you.

Now, if I could pick up on a question that
Chairman Okun asked initially, but, first, let me just
ask a quick question. Mr. Pendleton, 1 understood
this morning that you®"re a consultant to Carpenter. |1
think you were introduced that way.

MR. PENDLETON: Well, actually, my position
here 1s as a specialty steel representative rather
than a consultant to Carpenter. That"s a very minor
arrangement.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Is that an
association? What is Specialty Steel Industry of
North America?

MR. PENDLETON: That is the main specialty
steel iIndustry trade association, and all of us are
members of that organization.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Is NAS a member of
that association?

MR. PENDLETON: Who i1s?

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: NAS. Is that a member
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of the association?

MR. PENDLETON: NAS, yes, yes.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Okay. Thank you.

Mr. Mellowes, the Cogne prehearing brief
states on page 43 that, and I quote, "importantly, in
the most recent five-year review of SSWR covering the
orders on Brazil, France, India, and Spain, the
Commission properly rejected the vulnerability
arguments of the petitioners and determined that the
industry was not in a vulnerable condition at that
time in 2000."

Since that review in July of 2000, Charter
and NAS have entered the domestic, stainless steel,
wire rod market. Does the emergence of Charter in
2001 and NAS in 2003 in the domestic market and the
capacity expansions of certain domestic producers mean
that the domestic industry continues to improve
dramatically, as Cogne argues, and thus is able to
make needed capital improvements? In other words, did
these iInvestments in the industry on behalf of Charter
and NAS; were they made because there was a belief
that this industry was on the rebound? Mr. Mellowes?

MR. MELLOWES: Well, first and foremost, |1
cannot speak for --

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: -- NAS.
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MR. MELLOWES: -- North American. It was
our belief, and 1711 say it once, and I1°1l say it
again, if this rod is fairly traded in North America,
we believe we can be competitive with anybody. As a
result of that, we think we can make a business. It"s
a simple as that.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Are you saying that
you made these investments based on the gamble of how
this case would turn out? Were you speculative at the
time?

MR. MELLOWES: We put some up-front
investments into our carbon-rolling mill. Okay? We
spent $80 million on a rolling mill, and we put some
up-front investments, call it a couple of million
bucks, In the building of that rolling mill in the
late nineties.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Would there be a
business plan that you had at the time that you could
submit as business-proprietary documentation for your
business strategy at that time?

MR. MELLOWES: For the carbon steel
business? For the stainless steel business?

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Yes.

MR. MELLOWES: Certainly, certainly.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: 1 would appreciate
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that.

IT 1 could, 1 think I can get this one quick
question in to Mr. Hartquist before my red light goes
off. Your prehearing brief, at pages 30 to 32, argues
that the domestic industry is in a vulnerable
condition. I would like to know how you reconcile
that argument with the July 26, 2000, sunset review
regarding stainless steel wire rod quoted by Cogne as
concluding that, and I quote, "given this mixed
picture on indicators of the iIndustry®s condition and
the generally positive level of profitability, we do
not find the industry to be in a vulnerable state.™
That"s a quote from our 2000 review.

You did not address that review iIn the
context of your argument at pages 30 to 32, and 1
wonder 1f you could do that for me in the post-
hearing. Your microphone wasn®*t on. |If you could do
it for the record.

MR. HARTQUIST: Certainly. We"ll be happy
to, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER KOPLAN: Thank you, Mr.
Hartquist.

Thank you, Madam Chairman.

CHAIRMAN OKUN: Commissioner Lane?

COMMISSIONER LANE: Thank you for appearing
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here today. 1 would like to start off with some
general questions.

Several of you have testified as to capital
investment in the industry. | would like to know if
the iIndustry as a whole has target numbers that it
expects or would like to see as a return on its
investment and whether or not you have target numbers
for what you would like to see for your overall
operating iIncome.

MR. HARTQUIST: Well, as a whole, of course,
not, because the companies can"t talk to each other
about these issues under the antitrust laws. If
you“re asking for specific --

COMMISSIONER LANE: No. 1°m talking about
generally. Do you have ball park figures that you
sort of use in the back of your mind that you would
like to see the industry reach?

MR. HARTQUIST: I would have to let the
individual companies answer because certainly there is
no general answer for the industry at large.

COMMISSIONER LANE: Okay. Mr. Mellowes?

MR. MELLOWES: I can answer for Charter. We
certainly have some internal capital-return numbers
that we would like to achieve.

COMMISSIONER LANE: And are those business
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proprietary?

MR. MELLOWES: Yes, ma®am.

COMMISSIONER LANE: Could you provide those
post-hearing?

MR. MELLOWES: Certainly.

COMMISSIONER LANE: Okay. Go ahead. Finish
your answer .

What about any of the other companies?

MS. BRUGGER: We can do the same, provide
something In a post-hearing brief from Carpenter as
well.

COMMISSIONER LANE: Okay. Thank you.

MR. GUGINO: Jim Gugino, Dunkirk Specialty.
I personally am not in a position to provide that. 1

t.

can research that and provide

COMMISSIONER LANE: Okay. Thank you.

MR. HARTQUIST: Let me be clear,
Commissioner, if I can. What you®"re seeking is, from
each company, their targeted return-on-investment
numbers.

COMMISSIONER LANE: Well, it seems to me,
and maybe I don"t know what I"m talking about, but it
seems to me that several of the companies have talked
about capital investments, and 1 would assume that
those capital investments are made with some sort of
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an idea as to what sort of return on that investment
they would like, how long they expect to have payback
on the investment, and generally the overall
projections of where you expect this investment to go.

MR. HARTQUIST: Okay. We will be happy to
do that. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER LANE: Okay. Thank you.

Now, I realize that Mr. Hudgens addressed
the U.S. steel safeguard actions covering, among other
things, stainless steel wire rod. However, I am
interested in hearing from t